FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/1/2022 11:31 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/1/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 101240-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

V.

D'ANTIIONY WILLIAMS, Petitioner.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO

Court of Appeals No. 55269-8-II Cowlitz County No. 19-1-00094-08

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CATHER INE E. GLINSKI Attorney for Petitioner

GLINSKI LAW FIRM PLLC P.O. Box 761 Manchester, WA 98353 (360) 876-2736

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The public was physically excluded from the courtroom during Williams's trial due to Covid-19 safety measures, but the Superior Court adopted measures to provide public access to the proceedings. On the first morning of trial, the court was informed that the live streaming was not working, and it conducted individual voir dire of a juror before the issue was resolved. Where the court did not conduct a balancing test on the record before choosing to proceed without the protective

measure in place, does violation of the public trial right require a new trial?

2. Williams was charged with aggravated first degree murder based on allegations that he formed the intent to kill the victim before firing a weapon at her. A law enforcement firearms expert was permitted to testify over defense objection that in viewing the surveillance video, the shooter's actions looked like anticipation of recoil. Did this opinion testimony regarding Williams's intent violate his right to a fair trial?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Shortly after 4:00 a.m. on January 22, 2019, Kayla Chapman, a clerk at Holt's Quik Chek in Kelso, called 911 saying she had been shot. RP 416. Medics arrived at the store within minutes and found Chapman lying behind the counter. She had a weak pulse, but she could not be revived. RP 423, 434-35. She died as a result of the gunshot wound. RP 436.

Police called the store manager, who came to the scene.

RP 428. The manager showed police the store's surveillance

video. RP 411. Police used the surveillance video to determine where to collect fingerprints and DNA, looking for an area that had been touched by the shooter. RP 491. Stills were taken from the video to use in a press release. RP 561. The surveillance video showed a man wearing a hat, with a bandana covering his face, enter the store. RP 710. He pointed a gun at Chapman and handed her a backpack. Chapman placed money and several packages of cigarettes in the backpack, then handed the backpack to the man. The man shot her, picked up her phone, and left. RP 720. He got into a car waiting outside the store. Exhibit 197.

D'Anthony Williams was charged with aggravated first degree murder, first degree felony murder, first degree robbery, unlawful possession of a firearm, taking a motor vehicle without permission, and possession of methamphetamine. The murder and robbery charges included allegations that Williams was armed with a firearm. CP 76-80. The case proceeded to trial in Cowlitz County Superior Court.

1. Measures adopted to protect public access were not in place during a portion of voir dire.

The trial occurred in November 2020, when distancing measures were in place due to the Covid-19 pandemic. By Superior Court order, the public was physically excluded from the courtroom, but measures were put in place protecting the right to public trial:

The Court finds the means provided for the public to observe and listen to virtual court hearings is the least restrictive means available for protecting the public, the parties, and the court staff. Specifically, any party can hear and observe the proceedings by logging into the ZOOM hearing; the information to log in to the Superior Court ZOOM hearings can be found on the Cowlitz County Superior Court website.... All Superior Court hearings, unless prohibited by law, will be live streamed on YouTube for the general public to observe any and all proceedings pursuant to State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wash.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995).... Where possible, jury trials held when this Order is in effect will also be televised through Kelso Longview Television (KLTV).

Cowlitz County Superior Court Administrative Order No. 2020-

••03-•8 (attached to Brief of Respondent as Appendix 2) at 2.

On the first day of trial, prior to voir dire, the court noted that a potential juror was being obstreperous, and court staff believed he posed a danger to other jurors. The potential juror was excused by agreement of the parties. RP 46. Another potential juror was excused by agreement because he felt ill when wearing a mask over his nose. RP 47. Next, the court conducted a colloquy with Williams regarding his stipulation to a prior conviction as an element of the unlawful possession of a firearm charge. RP 54. The court also ruled on the parties' motions in limine. RP 56-58.

The court then informed the parties that a potential juror was distraught and unsure whether she would be able to serve on the case because she had two sons in prison. RP 59. The State indicated it had no objection to excusing the juror, but defense counsel did not think there was enough information to excuse her without questioning her. RP 60. The court agreed to bring the juror in to talk to her. RP 61.

At that point the court noted that the proceedings were not streaming on YouTube. Some attempt was made to resolve the issue, but the problem had not been fixed by the time the potential juror was brought in for questioning. RP 61-62.

Juror 25 was swom in and then questioned by the court. RP 62. She said she was having a lot of anxiety about serving as a juror. Being there was bringing back memories that made her feel uncomfortable, and she did not know if she could make the best decisions. RP 63. After the juror left the courtroom, the court excused the juror without objection. RP 63-64. Defense counsel noted that the proceedings were still not streaming on Zoom/YouTube. RP 64. The court recessed the proceedings, and when they resumed the court noted that the streaming issue had been resolved. RP 65.

2. The court permitted improper opinion of intent.

The defense moved in limine to exclude anticipated testimony from the State's firearms expert expressing an opinion

as to the perpetrator's intent based on actions seen m the surveillance video. RP 583. Counsel explained that he had no objection to testimony about the operation of the gun, but testimony about why the gumnan acted as he did went beyond the witness's expertise. RP 584. Counsel argued that testimony about the intention of the person in the video is improper opinion based on speculation about what was going through that person's mind. RP 588.

The prosecutor argued that the witness should be permitted to testify that a gun moving forward or dipping down prior to it being fired is consistent with anticipation of recoil. RP 590. The court agreed that the witness could testify to that with the proper foundation. RP 590.

Kirk Wiper is a Kelso Police officer, firearms instructor, and firearms expert. RP 592-95. He testified as to the mechanical operation of firearms in general and to his examination of the gun used in this case, a 9 mm semi-automatic pistol. RP 605-15. Wiper also testified that when a gun is fired, an explosion in the

chamber causes it to recoil, generally moving the gun upwards. RP 602-03. He testified that a person preparing to fire a gun might anticipate this recoil and try to brace themselves against it by moving the gun downwards before firing. RP 603. He has noticed as an instructor that this anticipation of recoil is almost always present, and students have to be trained to consciously manipulate the trigger and nothing else when firing a gun. RP 604.

Wiper reviewed the surveillance video from Holt's and noticed some details consistent with how a gun might operate. RP 615. The prosecutor went through the video with Wiper frame by frame, asking him to describe what he saw. At the start he asked Wiper if the gun was being held in a position that would be consistent with anticipation of recoil. RP 617. Defense counsel objected that the question called for opinion and speculation, and the court sustained, ruling that the question was leading. RP 617. The prosecutor then asked what the position was consistent with, and Wiper answered anticipation of recoil.

The court overruled defense counsel's objection that the answer was speculation and opinion. RP 617.

The prosecutor proceeded through the video, asking Wiper if he saw other actions consistent with anticipation of recoil, and defense counsel continued to object. RP 618, 619. Wiper was permitted to testify that the movements seen at several points in the surveillance video were consistent with anticipation of recoil, in which the person holding the gun was steeling himself against the explosion that would happen when the gun is fired. RP 618, 619.

In closing argument, the prosecutor reminded the jury of Wiper's testimony that the actions in the video were consistent with anticipation of recoil, arguing that Williams braced himself as he attempted to fire. The State's argument was the evidence showed a plan to shoot and this proved the crime was premeditated. RP 1005-06, 1028.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE

GRANTED

1. WHETHER WILLIAM'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL WAS VIOLATED WHEN THE COURT PROCEEDED WITHOUT PREVIOUSLY ADOPTED PROTECTIVE MEASURES IN PLACE IS A SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL OUESTION THIS COURT SHOULD REVIEW.

Both the state and federal constitutions guarantee a defendant a public trial. Wash. Const. art. I, § 22; U.S. Const. amend VI. The right to a public trial is "a core safeguard in our system of justice." *State v. Wise*, 176 Wn.2d 1, 5, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012). It is so important that violation of the right is structural error. *Id.* at 6. There are, however, circumstances which warrant closing a part of the trial to the public, and the court may order a closure after conducting a balancing test on the record. *State v. Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d 254, 258-59, 906 P.2d 325 (1995).

Under *Bone-Club*, the court must at least name the right the defendant and public will lose by closing part of the proceeding, name the compelling interest that motivates the closure, weigh the competing rights and interests on the record, provide an opportunity for objection, and consider alternatives to closure. *Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d at 258-59. When that process is not followed and the right to a public trial is violated, prejudice is presumed, and a new trial is warranted. *Wise*, 176 Wn.2d at 6.

Whether the constitutional right to a public trial has been violated is a question of law this Court reviews *de novo. Wise*, 176 Wn.2d at 9 (citing *State v. Easterling*, 157 Wn.2d 167, 173-74, 137 P.3d 825 (2006)). Moreover, this claim may be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Schierman*, 192 Wn.2d 577, 608, 438 P.3d 1063 (2018).

In this case, the public was physically excluded from the courtroom for the entire trial due to Covid-19 safety restrictions. The public trial right was preserved by live streaming the proceedings via YouTube, which was accessible to the public, access for parties via Zoom, and local television. RP 59; Br. of Resp., App. 2 at 2. The live streaming was not functioning on the first morning of trial, however, and as a result some of the

proceedings occurred without this protective measure in place. RP 61-62. Before the court was aware of the streaming issue, it dismissed two potential jurors based on concerns presented by the bailiff, conducted a colloquy with Williams regarding his stipulation to a prior conviction, and ruled on the parties' motions in limine. RP 46-47, 54, 56-58. Then, after learning that the public did not have access via the live stream, the court swore in, questioned, and excused for cause a third prospective juror. RP 62-64.

The Court of Appeals held that Williams has not shown the courtroom was closed during the voir dire of this prospective juror, because the record does not indicate whether the Zoom and televised options were functioning during the time that the livestreaming was unavailable. Opinion, at 8-9. This holding fails to consider the fact that the Superior Court's *Bone-Club* analysis had determined that the YouTube live-stream was a necessary accommodation to preserve the right to a fair trial. Br. of Resp., App. 2 at 2 ("All Superior Court hearings, unless prohibited by

law, will be live streamed on YouTube for the general public to observe any and all proceedings pursuant to State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wash.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995)"). Even if the Zoom and televised options were properly functioning, this necessary element of public access was missing. The trial court's decision to proceed without conducting a further *Bone-Club* analysis violated Williams's right to a public trial.

The threshold issue is whether the particular proceeding implicates a defendant's public trial right and thus requires a *Bone-Club* analysis before the courtroom may be closed. *State v. Wilson*, 174 Wn. App. 328, 335, 298 P.3d 148 (2013), *review denied*, 184 Wn.2d 1026 (2016). The public trial right attaches to proceedings that have historically occurred in open court and that implicate the core values underlying the right. *State v. Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d 58, 72, 292 P.3d 715 (2012) (plurality opinion). This Court has held that the public trial right applies to jury voir dire proceedings. *Wise*, 176 Wn.2d at 11. Moreover, the public trial

right in voir dire proceedings extends to the questioning of individual prospective jurors. *Id*.

In Wise, voir dire began in the open courtroom, but ten jurors were privately questioned in the judge's chambers regarding personal health matters, relationships with witnesses or law enforcement officers, and criminal history. Six of those jurors were excused for cause. Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 7. The court did not conduct a Bone-Club analysis on the record before conducting this portion of voir dire in chambers. *Id.* at 8. This Court held that the trial court's failure to consider and apply the Bone-Club analysis before conducting voir dire in a room not accessible to the public was error. *Id.* at 13. Because the wrongful deprivation of the public trial right is structural error which affects the framework in which the trial proceeds, it is presumed prejudicial, and a new trial was required. Id. at 13-15, 19.

Here, as in *Wise*, the court conducted individual voir dire of a prospective juror in a room which was not accessible to the public without first conducting a *Bone-Club* analysis. While the

court had not yet begun voir dire of the entire venire, the procedure it employed nonetheless constituted voir dire, not merely the administrative excusal of a potential juror. *See Wilson*, 174 Wn. App. at 345 (bailiff's pre voir dire administrative excusal of two potential jurors for illness following court's written policy did not violate public trial right); *see also State v. Miller*, 184 Wn. App. 637, 642-44, 338 P.3d 873 (2014) (pre voir dire dismissal of prospective juror who had inadvertently been in courtroom did not implicate public trial right as it did not involve questioning of juror), *review denied*, 182 Wn.2d 1024 (2015).

Rather, when court staff made the court aware that the juror was feeling unable to serve, defense counsel requested that she be questioned in court to determine whether there was a basis to excuse her. RP 60-61. The juror was sworn in, she was questioned about her ability to serve as a juror in the case, and she was excused after she explained she did not feel she was capable of making sound decisions. RP 62-64. This process was

indistinguishable from voir dire and conducted for the same purpose, to determine the individual's ability to serve as a juror. *See State v. Tinh Trinh Lam*, 161 Wn. App. 299, 305, 254 P.3d 891 (2011) (questioning of sworn juror in chambers to determine if juror would continue to serve implicated public trial rights). Because public access to this portion of voir dire was restricted without the court first conducting a *Bone-Club* analysis on the record, Williams's right to a pubic trial was violated.

This Court has recently adopted a limited *de minimis* exception to the rule of automatic reversal for violation of the public trial right. *Schierman*, 192 Wn.2d at 615. In *Schierman*, the questioning of potential jurors during voir dire was conducted in open court. The court then heard and ruled on challenges for cause in chambers. The in-chambers proceeding was simultaneously transcribed, and the court memorialized the proceeding immediately afterward in open court. *Id.* at 614. This Court found that handling the challenges in chambers, without

first conducting a *Bone-Club* analysis on the record, amounted to an erroneous courtroom closure. *Id.* at 610.

The Court found it significant, however, that this was "a proceeding that involved no witness testimony, no questioning of potential jurors, and no preservation of evidence." *Id.* at 611. While the proceeding implicated several concerns underlying the right to public trial, because there were no juror statements, testimony or presentation of evidence, the error did not fundamentally taint the process, and a new trial was not required. Id. at 612, 615. The Court stressed, however, that public trial violations involving juror questioning or witness testimony are never de minimis. Id. at 613 ("We stress that our current precedent, which today's decision does not disturb, forecloses the possibility of *de minimis* violations involving juror questioning or witness testimony.").

The public trial right violation here involved individual voir dire of a prospective juror. The juror was sworn in and questioned about her ability to serve in this case at a time when

public access to the proceedings was not protected in the way the Superior Court order required. This improper courtroom closure cannot be deemed *de minimis*. This Court should grant review of this significant constitutional question presented by the courtroom closure in this case. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

2. WHETHER THE COURT PERMITTED THE STATE'S LAW ENFORCEMENT **EXPERT** WITNESS TO EXPRESS AN**IMPROPER** WILLIAMS'S ON INTENT **OPINION PRESENTS** A **SIGNIFICANT** CONSTITUTIONAL OUESTION THIS COURT SHOULD ADDRESS.

A criminal defendant has a constitutionally guaranteed right to a fair trial by an impartial trier of fact. U.S. Const. amend VI; Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. A witness's opinion as to the defendant's guilt, even by mere inference, violates this right by invading the province of the jury. *State v. Quaale*, 182 Wn.2d 191, 199, 340 P.3d 213 (2014); *State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753, 759, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001); *State v. Thompson*, 90 Wn. App. 41, 46, 950 P.2d 977, *review denied*, 136 Wn.2d 1002, 966 P.2d 902 (1998). "The role of the jury is to be held 'inviolate' under

Washington's constitution." *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 590, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). "To the jury is consigned under the constitution 'the ultimate power to weigh the evidence and determine the facts." *Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d at 590.

In this case, the State presented testimony from Sergeant Kirk Wiper, a law enforcement officer and firearms expert with extensive experience as a firearms instructor. RP 592-601. Wiper testified as to the mechanical operation of the gun in evidence. He testified that when a gun is fired, there is an explosion in the chamber that causes the gun to recoil, generally moving upwards. RP 602. He also testified that often when someone is about to fire a gun, that person will brace against the expected explosion, and as a result the hand holding the gun may dip downward. He called this phenomenon anticipation of recoil. RP 603.

Wiper was also permitted to testify over defense objection that movements he observed at various points in the surveillance video appeared to be anticipation of recoil by the shooter. RP 617-19. Defense counsel argued that to show the jury a video of

the shooter in this case and say it looks like there is anticipation of recoil is offering an opinion on the shooter's intent, which is improper. RP 588. The State argued that just as Wiper could offer expert testimony that the movement of the gun upward after the shooting was caused by recoil, he could testify that the movement prior to the shooting was anticipation of recoil. The court agreed. RP 590.

The State's argument, and the court's ruling, relied on a false equivalency. Recoil is a mechanical, physical result of the explosion which occurs when the gun is fired. Wiper could identify that movement in the video based on his expertise with firearms. Anticipation of recoil, however, is the state of mind of the person holding the gun. Saying that a movement shows anticipation of recoil is an assessment of the person's intent. Wiper's expertise in firearms does not qualify him to offer that opinion. He had no expertise or knowledge of whether Williams knew enough about guns to anticipate recoil or what his intent was. Wiper's opinion was improper because it conveyed an aura

of certainty that went beyond the limits of his actual expertise. *See Quaale*, 182 Wn.2d at 197-98 (expert's testimony that defendant was impaired based on an HGN test was improper opinion because it implied an aura of scientific certainty beyond the limits of the test).

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