FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/31/2022 2:39 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT No. 101240-3 COA No. 55269-8-II Cowlitz Co. Superior Court No. 19-1-00094-08

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

D'ANTHONY LESLIE WILLIAMS, Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIC BENTSON/WSBA#38471 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney's Office Hall of Justice 312 SW First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080 Office ID No. 91166

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Eric H. Bentson, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Ryan P. Jurvakainen, Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals correctly held Williams' right to a public trial was not violated and that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting expert testimony. The Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny review of *State of Washington v. D'Anthony Williams*, Court of Appeals No. 55269-8-II.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Does the Court of Appeals' decision that the record did not establish a closure involve a significant question of constitutional law?
- (2) Does the Court of Appeals' decision that expert opinion testimony was properly admitted involve a significant question of constitutional law?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 22, 2019, Kayla Chapman was working the graveyard shift at Holt's Quik-Chek in Kelso, Washington. RP 407-10, 414-16. Wearing a bandana as a mask, Williams entered Holt's carrying his girlfriend's backpack, armed with a .9-millimeter handgun. Ex. 197. Williams immediately attempted to shoot Chapman, but the gun did not fire. RP 416, 616-17, Ex. 197.

Williams attempted to hand Chapman the empty backpack, but she refused to take it. Ex. 197. Williams then tried to fire the gun at Chapman again, but it did not fire. RP 618, Ex. 197. Williams pulled the slide, and nothing ejected from the gun. RP 618, Ex. 197. This indicated no round had been chambered. RP 619. Chapman turned her back to Williams and attempted to walk away. Ex. 197. Williams attempted to shoot Chapman

¹Ex. 197 contains Holt's surveillance from several different angles and Chapman's 911 call.

again, this time in the back, but the gun did not fire, indicating the gun's safety was on. RP 618, 620-21, Ex. 197.

Chapman tried to escape by walking toward the back of the store, but Williams ran and cut her off, keeping her behind the L-shaped counter. RP 453, Ex. 197. Williams forced Chapman to take the backpack. Ex. 197. Williams pulled the slide a second time. RP 619, Ex. 197. This time a live round was ejected onto the floor, indicating a round had been in the chamber. RP 619, 491. This would have been expected, because pulling the slide earlier would have pulled a round from the magazine and placed it in the chamber. RP 619-20. As before, pulling the slide caused another round to move from the magazine to the chamber. RP 619-20. Williams made a fourth attempt to shoot Chapman. RP 619, Ex. 197. The gun did not fire. Ex. 197. This again indicated the safety was on. RP 612, 621.

Unable to escape, Chapman complied and took the backpack to the cash register. Ex. 197. Williams returned to the

main counter where the cash register was. Ex. 197. As he headed to this location, he manipulated the gun in the vicinity of the safety. RP 620, Ex. 197. With the safety off and a round chambered, pulling the trigger would cause the gun to fire. RP 613. However, rather than fire the gun, Williams waited. Ex. 197.

Williams forced Chapman to empty cash from the cash register and cigarettes into the backpack. Ex. 197. Williams also placed Chapman's smart phone in the backpack. Ex. 197. After Williams had sole possession of the backpack, he reached across the counter with the gun, pointed it at Chapman's chest, and pulled the trigger. RP 620, Ex. 197. The gun fired a bullet that entered Chapman's chest/neck area. RP 436, Ex. 197.

After Williams exited the store, Chapman temporarily remained on her feet. Ex. 197. She walked to the store's cordless phone and used it to call 911. RP 410, Ex. 197. A few seconds into the call, she stopped talking, fell to the floor, and eventually stopped breathing. RP 416, Ex. 197. Police and emergency

medical technicians arrived and attempted to save her life. RP 434. However, due to her loss of blood, it was too late. RP 435. Chapman died. RP 435.

Williams was charged with aggravated murder in the first degree and several other crimes. RP 75-77, CP 76. Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, cases were unable to be tried for several months. *See* Cowlitz County Superior Court Emergency Order Nos. 1-A, 2-A, 3-A, 4-A, 4-A Modification.² Eventually, after consulting with the health department, the court set up several safety precautions, detailed in the Cowlitz County Superior Court Event Center Operations Manual, to allow cases to be tried, while also reducing the safety risk of those involved. App. 1, at 3.

Pursuant to Cowlitz County Superior Court Administrative Order No. 2020-003-08, trials were held in the Cowlitz Event Center. App. 2, at 2. All staff, jurors, and court

² See <u>https://cowlitzsuperiorcourt.us/covid-19</u>.

participants were required to wear masks. App. 1, at 3. Witnesses were permitted to remove their masks, only when testifying, behind a large clear shield that surrounded the witness stand. App. 1, at 10-11. All staff, jurors, and court participants were required to be socially distanced from one another. App. 1, at 3. Additionally, during voir dire, jurors were brought into the courtroom in groups of 25 to comply with health guidelines for how many people could be present in the courtroom. App. 1, at 5-6.

Reporters were permitted to sit in the courtroom, socially distanced with masks. RP 571, App. 1, at 3. All who attempted to enter the Cowlitz Event Center underwent health screening, including having their temperatures checked. App. 1, at 4-5. Each entrant was provided a surgical mask. App 1, at 3. Cases were streamed live on YouTube, Zoom, and where possible, on Kelso Longview Television ("KLTV"). App. 2, at 2.

Prior to trial, Williams' attorney suggested jurors be brought in to fill out a questionnaire, and the parties be given an

opportunity to review the questionnaires before jury selection began the following day. RP 3. Both the State and the court agreed to proceed in this manner. RP 3.

On November 3, 2021, potential jurors arrived to fill out the questionnaire outside of the courtroom. RP 45. Prior to handing out the questionnaire, the bailiff notified the court a potential juror was "extremely distraught." RP 59. Williams' attorney desired more information about the degree to which she was distraught and suggested speaking to her the following day during voir dire. RP 60. The clerks became concerned the trial was not streaming on YouTube. RP 61. The distraught juror was brought into the courtroom and placed under oath. RP 61-62. She told the court she had two sons in prison and began crying. RP 63. Neither attorney asked her any questions nor objected to excusing her. RP 63-64. The court excused her because she was emotional "even before she knew the nature of the charges." RP 64.

The court recessed. RP 65. When it reconvened, the court asked for someone to use a phone to ensure streaming was working. RP 65. Williams' attorney said, "I was able to pull it up." RP 66. The following day, on November 4, 2020, the jury panel was sworn and the trial began with voir dire of the jury panel in 25-person groups to comply with health department limitations. RP 71-72.

During trial, the jury observed video surveillance of the robbery and shooting of Chapman. RP 415-16. The State called Sergeant Kirk Wiper as an expert witness in the operation of firearms. RP 583, 591. Williams objected to Wiper testifying about his observations of the firearm operations on the surveillance. RP 584, 589. The court ruled that while Wiper could not testify to what the shooter was thinking, he could testify to movements of the gun consistent with anticipation of recoil, if there was proper foundation. RP 590.

That foundation was laid. RP 591-615. Wiper had extensive experience as the lead firearms instructor at the law

enforcement academy and later as the program coordinator for firearms training, ultimately overseeing the entire firearms program. RP 594-602. Wiper had given lectures on policing to associations of chiefs and sheriffs in several states, testified before the Washington State Legislature, and had testified as an expert in both state and federal trials. RP 594-95, 604.

Wiper testified to training many students with varied backgrounds, ranging from former Navy SEALs to students who had never fired a gun before. RP 599. He discussed some of the challenges faced when training students to fire semiautomatic handguns. RP 601. Wiper explained that recoil was the "disruption of the gun as it's fired." RP 602. Wiper explained that anticipation of recoil was a common occurrence of bracing when anticipating that explosion. RP 603. When anticipating recoil, a person would often move a gun down, and in the case of a right-handed shooter, to the left. RP 603.

Wiper tested the firearm that was used to kill Chapman and found it to function properly. RP 605-15. Wiper was

familiar with Holt's. RP 615. He had reviewed the surveillance and noted several things consistent with the operation of the firearm. RP 615. Wiper went through the surveillance and explained actions he observed in the operation of the gun. RP 615-20. Over Williams' objection, Wiper was permitted to testify to movements consistent with anticipation of recoil. RP 590, 616-21.

Williams was convicted of several crimes, including aggravated murder in the first degree. RP 1095-97. With the exception of a possession of a controlled substance conviction, the Court of Appeals affirmed Williams' convictions but ordered resentencing pursuant to *In re Pers. Restraint of Monschke*, 197 Wn.2d 305, 482, P.3d 276 (2021) and *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021). Slip Opinion 14. The Court of Appeals found Williams failed to meet his burden of showing a closure, because he did not show the trial was unavailable on Zoom or KLTV. Slip Opinion 8-10. The Court of Appeals also

found that Wiper's testimony was properly admitted. Slip Opinion 10-11.

V. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE PETITION FAILS TO RAISE GROUNDS UNDER RAP 13.4(B).

Because Williams' petition fails to raise any of the grounds governing review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied. Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Williams maintains by finding he failed to meet his burden of showing a closure and that expert testimony was properly admitted, the Court of Appeals' decision involves a significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Williams does not claim any other grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b).

The findings challenged by Williams were evidentiary. Consequently, in finding Williams failed to meet his burden of showing a closure and that the expert witness was permitted to testify to movements consistent with anticipation of recoil, the Court of Appeals' decision does not involve a significant question of constitutional law. Because Williams fails to raise grounds under RAP 13.4(b)(3), review should not be granted.

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS' HOLDING THAT WILLIAMS FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF SHOWING A CLOSURE DOES NOT INVOLVE A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW UNDER RAP 13.4(B)(3).

Because Williams failed to meet his burden of showing the public was completely and purposefully excluded, the Court of Appeals' decision does not involve a significant question of constitutional law. "[A] 'closure' of a courtroom occurs when the courtroom is completely and purposefully closed to spectators so that no one may enter and no one may leave." *State*

v. Lormor, 172 Wn.2d 85, 93, 257 P.3d 624 (2011). The Court of Appeals found that despite a temporary interruption in YouTube streaming, Williams did not meet his burden of showing a closure, because the record did not show the trial was unavailable to the public over Zoom or KLTV. Williams concedes the trial may have remained available to the public over Zoom and KLTV. However, he claims because YouTube was an avenue for observing, its temporary interruption constituted a closure and raises a constitutional issue. It does not.

"The trial court is generally in the best position to perceive and structure its own proceedings. Accordingly, a trial court has broad discretion to make a variety of trial management decisions[.]" *State v. Dye*, 178 Wn.2d 541, 547, 309 P.3d 1192 (2013). Art. I § 22 provides the right to a "speedy public trial," however, that right is not absolute, and a courtroom may be closed when certain criteria are met. *See State v. Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d 254, 258-59, 906 P.2d 325 (1995). Under *Bone-Club*, courts consider five criteria prior to closing a courtroom:

- (1) The proponent of the closure or sealing must make some showing of a compelling interest;
- (2) Anyone present when the closure motion is made must be given an opportunity to object to the closure;
- (3) The proposed method for curtailing open access must be the least restrictive means available for protecting the threatened interests;
- (4) The court must weigh the competing interests of the proponent of the closure and the public; and
- (5) The order must be no broader in its application and duration than necessary to serve its purpose.

Id.

"Not all arguable courtroom closures require satisfaction of the five factor test established in *State v. Bone-Club*[.]" *State v. Slert*, 181 Wn.2d 598, 604, 334 P.3d 1088 (2014). "A defendant asserting a violation of his public trial rights must show that a closure occurred." *State v. Njonge*, 181 Wn.2d 546, 556, 334 P.3d 1068 (2014). Further, "not every interaction between the court, counsel, and defendants will implicate the right to a public trial, or constitute a closure to the public." *State v. Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d 58, 71, 292 P.3d 715 (2012).

"A defendant asserting a violation of his public trial rights bears the burden of showing a closure occurred." *State v. Parks*, 190 Wn. App. 859, 363 P.3d 599 (2015) (citing *Njonge*, 181 Wn.2d at 556). A closure is not purposeful when the court did not intend to close the courtroom. *See State v. Stark*, 183 Wn. App. 893, 903, 334 P.3d 1196 (2014). Determining whether a closure occurred requires a "conclusive showing that spectators were totally excluded[,]" and to do so a court will not "presume the existence of facts to which the record is silent." *Njonge*, 181 Wn.2d at 556 (citing *State v. Jasper*, 174 Wn.2d 96, 124, 271 P.3d 876 (2012)).

The absence of the public in a locked courtroom has been found insufficient to show members of the public desired to be present but were excluded. *See In re Pers. Restraint of Yates*, 177 Wn.2d 1, 28, 296 P.3d 872 (2013). Further, "the public-trial guarantee is not violated if an individual member of the public cannot gain admittance to a courtroom because there are no available seats." *Njonge*, 181 Wn.2d at 558 (quoting *Estes*

v. Texas, 381 U.S. 532, 588-89, 85 S.Ct. 1628, 14 L.Ed.2d 543 (1965)). The public includes the press. *Id.* at 560. The press is not excluded simply because filming is disallowed for a portion of the trial. *Id.*

The fact of information being not mere contemporaneously known to the public is not a closure when that information is later made available. See State v. Love, 183 Wn.2d 598, 607, 354 P.3d 841 (2015). In *Love*, the attorneys exercised for cause challenges at the bench and peremptory challenges silently in the courtroom by exchanging a list of jurors between themselves. *Id.* at 602. However, this did not conceal information from the public, when later "[t]he transcript of the discussion about the for cause challenges and the struck juror sheet showing the peremptory challenges were both publicly available." Id. at 607.

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly found it was Williams' burden to show a closure, and he failed to meet that burden. To show a closure, Williams was required to make a

"conclusive showing that spectators were totally excluded." *See Njonge*, 181 Wn.2d at 556. In addition to YouTube, the trial court made trials available to the public over Zoom and local television. Williams did not show the trial was unavailable on Zoom or television. Slip Opinion 9. Thus, Williams failed to conclusively show spectators were totally excluded.

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